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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good afternoon. My

          3  name is John Liu. I have the privilege of chairing

          4  the Transportation Committee of the City Council.

          5                 Today we have convened for the

          6  purposes of considering a bill that would amend the

          7  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          8  relation to licensing of stoopline stands contingent

          9  upon certification that such stand does not obstruct

         10  pedestrian traffic.

         11                 We are joined today by Council

         12  Members Joe Addabbo from Queens, Larry Seabrook from

         13  the Bronx, Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, and Sara

         14  Gonzalez from Brooklyn, and Diana from Brooklyn.

         15                 We are happy to be joined by

         16  representatives of the City Department of

         17  Transportation, and at this point I'd ask them to

         18  take a seat right here or anywhere you'd like for

         19  that matter. That's a good chair. Council Member

         20  Nelson's seat. Oh, and a representative from

         21  Department of Consumer Affairs. Thank you for

         22  joining us.

         23                 Immediately after their testimony, we

         24  can hear some brief testimony, and then we will have

         25  to adjourn this hearing to make way for other

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  hearings.

          3                 Commissioners, thank you very much

          4  for joining us this morning, and now afternoon.

          5                 Please proceed.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Good

          7  morning, Chairman Liu, members of the Transportation

          8  Committee.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Turn your microphone

         10  on.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I think

         12  it is. Okay?

         13                 Good morning, Chairman Liu, Good

         14  afternoon, Chairman Liu, members of the

         15  Transportation Committee. I am David Woloch, Deputy

         16  Commissioner for External Affairs at the New York

         17  City Department of Transportation, and with me here

         18  today is Pauline Toole, Assistant Commissioner at

         19  the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         20                 Thank you for providing me with this

         21  opportunity to testify today on this preconsidered

         22  bill, relating to stoopline stands.

         23                 This bill would require DOT, prior to

         24  the issuance or renewal of a stoopline stand license

         25  by DCA, to conduct an on-site analysis of the
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          2  pedestrian traffic volume, and prepare a report

          3  containing the data used to determine whether or not

          4  the agency believes the presence of a stoopline

          5  stand would have an adverse effect on pedestrians'

          6  safety or impose an obstruction to the use of the

          7  sidewalks by pedestrians.

          8                 First, let me state that ensuring the

          9  safety of those traveling on the City's streets and

         10  sidewalks is certainly a top priority for DOT, and

         11  as the agency responsible for City sidewalks, we are

         12  tasked with balancing the many users of our

         13  sidewalks, including pedestrians and commerce.

         14                 However, this agency has received

         15  virtually no complaints about stoopline stands over

         16  the past several years. Yet, this bill would create

         17  a large administrative burden for DOT that would

         18  require us to create a new unit, hire and train

         19  staff to conduct these analyses, functions, of

         20  course, that must be paid for.

         21                 Additionally, the bill would create a

         22  level of uncertainty for small business owners, as

         23  they would worry over whether they would pass such

         24  an inspection for a four or five foot stand or fail

         25  such an inspection all together.
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          2                 The sidewalks of New York City are

          3  occupied by a variety of users, including street

          4  furniture, City infrastructure, such as fire

          5  hydrants, pay phones, wastebaskets, newsracks, as

          6  well as various types of vendors, businesses that

          7  have obstructions and those that have stoopline

          8  stands.

          9                 Stoopline stands are licensed by DCA

         10  and they only sell a limited number of goods,

         11  including fruits, vegetables, ice cream and flowers.

         12  Stoopline stands may not exceed ten feet in length

         13  or four feet in width, unless the sidewalk is at

         14  least 16 feet wide, in which case stoopline stands

         15  may be up to ten feet in length and five feet in

         16  width, as long as there is an unobstructed pathway

         17  of at least nine and a half feet maintained at all

         18  times on the sidewalk.

         19                 Currently there are 2,126 licensed

         20  stoopline stands throughout the five boroughs.

         21                 Yet, it is important to note that

         22  these stands are not anywhere near as prevalent in

         23  our neighborhoods as obstructions. Located outside

         24  many businesses, these sidewalk displays do not

         25  require a license and they extend up to three feet

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  into the sidewalk, and the business may only display

          3  items here that are also sold inside.

          4                 In addition, they are prohibited in

          5  areas where general or food vending is prohibited,

          6  during times when such vending is prohibited.

          7                 I should point out that what many

          8  people might think are stoopline stands are actually

          9  obstructions.

         10                 As I mentioned, siting criteria

         11  currently exists for both obstructions in stoopline

         12  stands, as well as for other sidewalk users, such as

         13  vendors and newsracks. In addition, for five foot

         14  stands prior to issuing or renewing a stoopline

         15  stand license, DCA makes sure that a particular

         16  sidewalk is wide enough to accommodate the stand.

         17                 Furthermore, I would like to point

         18  out that DCA investigates all the complaints they

         19  receive in cases where the stoopline stands are

         20  found to be non-compliant, such as oversized stands,

         21  they are given violations and/or maybe closed down

         22  and their goods confiscated.

         23                 To meet the requirements of this

         24  bill, DOT would need to create a new unit that would

         25  be responsible for conducting and evaluating each
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          2  stoopline stand analysis.

          3                 DOT estimates, based on the 2,126

          4  licenses currently issued in their two-year renewal

          5  cycle, 12 employees would need to be hired,

          6  consisting of ten inspectors and two support staff.

          7                 Each team of inspectors would need

          8  two days or more to complete stoopline stand

          9  analysis. First they would need to determine the

         10  peak pedestrian activity for each specific stoopline

         11  stand, then go back out to take the actual survey

         12  and pedestrian counts and then compile and evaluate

         13  the analysis and pass along the certification with

         14  DCA.

         15                 In many cases they would need to

         16  reconduct their analysis two or more times for those

         17  stands that may not have passed the initial

         18  analysis, but may do so now, based on a reduced

         19  size, even if just by a foot.

         20                 DOT estimates that the annual cost to

         21  the City for this new unit would be approximately 1

         22  million. This does not include any expenses that DCA

         23  would incur in order to meet their requirements in

         24  the bill.

         25                 How does the Council propose to pay
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          2  for this $1 million cost. We certainly do not want

          3  to pass more of a burden onto these small

          4  businesses. This is, as is generally the case, the

          5  new licensing requirements are imposed.

          6                 However, should the Council choose to

          7  increase license fees, we estimate that owners will

          8  be paying triple and seven times the amount they are

          9  currently paying for their licenses. Or does the

         10  Council propose that the taxpayers of the City

         11  absorb this cost.

         12                 DOT devotes a large portion of its

         13  resources to improving safety for pedestrians

         14  throughout the City. Our track record in recent

         15  years demonstrates this commitment, from our Safe

         16  Routes to School Program to our work on Queens

         17  Boulevard, to other traffic-calming initiatives in

         18  all five boroughs.

         19                 But, of course, there is always more

         20  work for us to do. However, I can assure you that if

         21  we had $1 million in new funding for pedestrian

         22  safety, we could find a more effective use in

         23  conducting over 2,000 stoopline stand inspections.

         24                 In addition, all 2,126 stoopline

         25  stand licenses are issued for a two-year period and
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          2  all expire on March 31st, in even numbered years.

          3                 Since each analysis would take two

          4  days or more to complete, it would be impossible for

          5  DOT to go out and conduct the analysis for all these

          6  stands in a relatively short period of time.

          7                 The concept which again is to the

          8  detriment of the businesses is they would be subject

          9  to uncertainty and be unable to obtain the renewed

         10  license until we conduct, evaluate and pass along to

         11  DCA our findings.

         12                 Lastly, the bill's immediate

         13  effective date is problematic. It would be

         14  impossible for DOT and DCA to be up and running the

         15  moment this bill was to become law. Time would be

         16  needed to create this new unit within DOT and

         17  determine how the coordination between the two

         18  agencies would work, as well as time to recruit,

         19  hire and train new staffers.

         20                 In conclusion, the Administration

         21  does not support this bill, as in relation to the

         22  number of complaints we received.

         23                 This bill would create a huge

         24  administrative burden for DOT, whose cost would

         25  either be passed along to the City taxpayers or to
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          2  stoopline stand owners.

          3                 Perhaps a better approach would be to

          4  focus on a complaint-driven basis whereby a

          5  pedestrian traffic volume analysis would only be

          6  required when a formal complaint is received by DCA,

          7  that an adverse effect on pedestrian safety may

          8  exist.

          9                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         10  testify before you today, and we'd be happy to

         11  answer any questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Deputy

         13  Commissioner Woloch. I appreciate your input,

         14  certainly with regard to the obstructions, and we

         15  will prepare a bill shortly to impose the same kind

         16  of requirements with regard to obstructions, as

         17  well, in addition to stoopline stands.

         18                 Let me say from the outset that I

         19  know the -- Commissioner Toole, are you testifying

         20  or here for questions?

         21                 ASSITANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I'm just

         22  here in case you have questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great.

         24                 I believe the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs, which is the agency responsible for
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          2  licensing stoopline stands, does a very admirable

          3  job of, number one, issuing the licenses, and number

          4  two, following up on making sure that the rules are

          5  being complied with.

          6                 Current law already requires that the

          7  Department of Transportation in the application

          8  process makes some kind of determination that there

          9  is no hazard to pedestrians when such a stoopline

         10  stand is implemented.

         11                 It has become plainly clear over the

         12  last couple of years, that the DOT actually does not

         13  take any such action in regard to the application

         14  process, which leads us to the bill we have before

         15  us today, finally, requiring clearly that the DOT do

         16  two simple things; number one, go out and take a

         17  look at the location these stoopline stands are

         18  being applied for; and number two, simply making a

         19  determination that they do not pose a hazard to

         20  pedestrians. That is the bottom line of what we're

         21  doing today.

         22                 The DOT has a responsibility to

         23  ensuring pedestrians can walk on sidewalks safely,

         24  and that's exactly what this bill is all about.

         25                 Admittedly there will be some impact
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          2  on businesses that currently have stoopline stands

          3  or are planning to apply for stoopline stands, and

          4  in those cases we will certainly in this Committee

          5  keep a very close eye on the regulation and

          6  enforcement practices that the DOT undertakes to

          7  comply with this new legislation.

          8                 We want to make sure that there is no

          9  unfairness or inequity being placed or imposed upon

         10  our small businesses. But at the end of the day, the

         11  issue is this: That sidewalks in New York City are

         12  there for one purpose and one purpose only, and that

         13  is for people to walk to and from destinations in a

         14  safe manner. To the extent that we have the luxury

         15  as we have in past years, the space on the sidewalks

         16  to accommodate both pedestrians, the volume safely,

         17  as well as allow our, some of our businesses to have

         18  these stoopline stands, we certainly should continue

         19  to accommodate them. But it should not be

         20  accommodated in a blind way, without the Department

         21  of Transportation actually taking action to make

         22  sure that pedestrians have a safe right of way on

         23  the sidewalks.

         24                 So, my colleagues, I know that you

         25  have many, many requirements and constraints today,
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          2  so I am going to -- we will continue with this

          3  hearing for those of you who can't stay, but at this

          4  point I will open up the voting to members who must

          5  leave.

          6                 So, my colleagues, I recommend a yes

          7  vote on this bill, and will the clerk please call

          8  the roll.

          9                 Again, if any members of this

         10  Committee can stay and listen to testimony, we have

         11  two more people who are testifying after these

         12  deputy commissioners, please do stay but in case you

         13  do have to run, I understand.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         15  Liu.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Moskowitz.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Reyna.

         20                 (No response.)

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Koppell.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: May I be

         25  excused from voting and explain my vote.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, please.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

          4  if we had more time I would have asked Ms. Toole

          5  whether there are many complaints. We have testimony

          6  from the DOT that there are not many complaints. I

          7  think the suggestion made by the Deputy Commissioner

          8  of DOT that a bill that would require that

          9  complaints be investigated would be a better

         10  approach than a bill that requires that every single

         11  stoopline application require an investigation and

         12  report.

         13                 I know, you know, I have good regard

         14  for both departments that are before us, and I know

         15  that they're well run, but City government is not

         16  the most efficient in many instances, and this could

         17  create a big bottleneck for the merchants.

         18                 I signed onto this bill when I

         19  thought it applied to merchants other than the food

         20  merchants and the other limited number of people who

         21  get stoopline stands, and I have a pretty good

         22  concern, which I've had for years about people who

         23  abuse the sidewalks who sell clothing and household

         24  goods and so on.

         25                 I didn't realize this bill applied to
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          2  the food and vegetable stands, which have long had

          3  special privileges, but they provide a certain,

          4  frankly a color and ambiance to neighborhoods that I

          5  encourage, and I don't want to discourage them.

          6                 I also, Mr. Chairman, I recognize

          7  your seriousness here and that you have a serious

          8  concern in some neighborhoods where this causes

          9  pedestrian congestion and even safety.

         10                 In my district, quite frankly, I had

         11  no complaints about the stoopline stands of the

         12  fruit and vegetable merchants, we have quite a few

         13  of them. So, I would ask respectfully, Mr. Chairman,

         14  that we not vote on this today. I know we're voting

         15  on it already, but that you put it off. We can still

         16  vote on it today, it doesn't have to be voted on in

         17  the full Council today. I respectfully ask that you

         18  consider the suggestion that we have a

         19  complaint-oriented process.

         20                 It was pointed out to me in your own

         21  memo, that the requirements are already there, they

         22  can't have these stands more than a certain number

         23  of feet into the sidewalk and so on, and so the

         24  requirements are there, the problem is the

         25  bureaucracy created by the bill and the hardship
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          2  this may cause some of these small merchants.

          3                 And I know you're concerned about

          4  small merchants, Mr. Chairman, especially since many

          5  of them are Asian merchants, and I know you have a

          6  particular concern for that community.

          7                 So, I would urge Mr. Chairman that we

          8  put this aside after the Committee has considered

          9  it, consider an amendment such as suggested by the

         10  DOT, which I think makes great sense. Absent such a

         11  change, I would respectfully ask that if the bill

         12  gets reprinted, my name be removed and at the

         13  moment, because of my concerns, as I explained them

         14  now, I regretfully have to vote no.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Seabrook.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I vote aye.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Gonzalez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Chairman,

         20  permission to explain my vote?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: In District

         23  38, you know, I'm very inclusive in respect to my

         24  constituents in process, that's very important to

         25  me, and I've reached out to the Business Improvement
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          2  District.

          3                 I will, for the record, read a quote,

          4  if you'll permit me, from Rene' Giordano from the

          5  Fifth Avenue Sunset Park BID.

          6                 She stated, "I have no problem with

          7  bills that protect consumers and businesses. I am

          8  concerned with any issues that adversely affect

          9  public safety and economic status for businesses

         10  within the district.

         11                 And because of that and because of

         12  the research that I've done and the thought process,

         13  anything that affects public safety I believe is the

         14  responsibility of this body.

         15                 I understand that perhaps we haven't

         16  had any situations in my particular district

         17  recently or at all. I would have to look into that

         18  again.

         19                 I will say that one accident, and

         20  it's one accident too much, one situation, and we

         21  are responsible as legislators to the entire City,

         22  so understanding that economic development is

         23  important and businesses are important, we also have

         24  to protect the public and I vote aye.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          3                 We will hold the roll. We've been

          4  joined by Council Member James Sanders, Jr.

          5                 Again, we will continue with

          6  testimony after, immediately after this.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          8  Sanders.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I vote aye.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: By a vote of

         11  six in the affirmative, one in the negative, no

         12  abstentions, preconsidered item is adopted. Council

         13  Members, please sign the Committee report.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And will the clerk

         15  hold the roll open for the Council members who are

         16  still heading up the stairs?

         17                 We will continue with the testimony.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         19  Reyna.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I vote aye.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The item now

         23  stands at seven in the affirmative, one in the

         24  negative and no abstentions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Again, we'll hold
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          2  the roll open until more members can arrive.

          3                 Council Member Reyna, I do want to

          4  scold you for rushing to this vote. You should not

          5  be rushing anywhere, at least for the next few

          6  weeks.

          7                 We have a question from Council

          8  Member Addabbo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 To both Commissioners, thank you for

         12  your time and testimony today. I appreciate you

         13  being here.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Mr.

         15  Woloch, in the last page of your testimony, again,

         16  your suggestion about a complaint-driven possible

         17  piece of legislation regarding this issue, do you

         18  see that being reactionary?

         19                 And I don't mean to compare apples

         20  and oranges, similarly also with DOT, sometimes we

         21  get a stop sign after a certain amount of accidents

         22  at a certain intersection, you'll get a traffic

         23  light after a certain amount of accidents in a

         24  certain intersection, it also becomes quite

         25  reactionary. And here, too, you're asking us to
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          2  become reactionary. We're going to react to somebody

          3  who may have already encouraged upon the sidewalk or

          4  react to injuries sustained from such encroachments,

          5  instead of being, you know, with this intro we are

          6  going to prevent that by taking a look at it

          7  beforehand. Do you consider your proposal kind of

          8  reactionary?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: We're not

         10  suggesting at all that we wait for any accidents to

         11  happen. We're just suggesting that there is a large

         12  universe with stoopline stands in the City, over

         13  2,000. We owe it to the City, to the taxpayers and

         14  to the business owners not to take the analysis

         15  that's suggested here lightly.

         16                 I don't think any of us would want to

         17  send out a DOT employee to go to a location and make

         18  a snap decision about whether there is a lot of

         19  pedestrian activity or a little pedestrian activity.

         20                 We have to do that analysis

         21  correctly, and it's a serious undertaking. And it

         22  would require a lot of resources.

         23                 We all believe that the vast majority

         24  of these stoopline stands don't pose a hazard at

         25  all. Are there perhaps a small universe in highly
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          2  congested areas that are worth taking a look at?

          3  Yes, and such a system that would be

          4  complaint-driven would allow for that.

          5                 Again, I go back to the testimony. A

          6  million dollars to make this work. We haven't

          7  gotten, as I said, we've gotten virtually no

          8  complaints about stoopline stands, and I believe the

          9  same at DCA about this particular issue.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: What I

         11  would say just concretely, last year we got 45

         12  complaints about stoopline stands. Of those, 29

         13  dealt with blocked sidewalks, and of those, only

         14  two-thirds actually had blocked sidewalks and they

         15  were issued violations based on complaints.

         16                 In addition, despite complaints, our

         17  inspectors are out there all of the time, and last

         18  year they issued 600 violations for oversized

         19  stoopline stands. They're there. It's effective.

         20  This will do nothing except stop small businesses

         21  from being able to get their licenses in an

         22  efficient manner. It's not going to increase public

         23  safety.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Commissioner,

         25  I don't see where it would stop a small business.
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          2  What we're asking for, a small business to comply

          3  with existing rules and regulations.

          4                 All the pre-inspection is doing with

          5  this intro is making sure those small business

          6  owners comply.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We

          8  don't think that is true because most stoopline

          9  stands have existed at the same addresses for a very

         10  long time. They have been subject to review by the

         11  Department of Transportation and the Department of

         12  Consumer Affairs over the past 20 years.

         13                 They've had their sidewalks measured.

         14  They're in compliance. They're not a public hazard

         15  to people. They, in fact, provide a good service.

         16                 What this will do is prohibit DCA

         17  from issuing licenses to these businesses when their

         18  license renewal comes up in March. March 31st, all

         19  2,000 licensees, until DOT has conducted

         20  examinations of public safety and DOT being

         21  responsible is going to use established standards

         22  and not just wisk by the place. So, it's going to be

         23  an impediment for these businesses that are trying

         24  to make a living.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: But if they
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          2  already comply and they haven't changed their

          3  location, they should be approved, right?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: The

          5  variable here isn't something that is dependent upon

          6  the merchant himself or herself, the variable is the

          7  level of pedestrian activity.

          8                 So, the problem for a merchant,

          9  particularly in what we conceive to be a congested

         10  area, is they're not going to know year-to-year or

         11  every two years to every two years, what our

         12  analysis is going to find. Are they going to end up

         13  with a stand of five feet, or four feet, or no stand

         14  at all?

         15                 And I'd just like to go back that the

         16  Chair had suggested earlier, that the sidewalks are

         17  there for one thing and one thing only.

         18                 That's simply not true. We have a lot

         19  of different uses on our sidewalks, and we have them

         20  for years and years. We have telephones on our

         21  sidewalk, we have mailboxes on our sidewalks, we

         22  have all sorts of different aspects of commerce on

         23  our sidewalks, it is a fabric of the City and we're

         24  very interested -- I think nobody more than DOT is

         25  concerned about pedestrian safety, but we want to
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          2  balance pedestrian mobility with these other uses,

          3  included commerce.

          4                 So, again, the idea that we're

          5  suggesting isn't that the idea that's driving this

          6  bill is ill-conceived. There may be some problematic

          7  locations out there that are worth taking a look at,

          8  but let's use our resources in an as effective a way

          9  as possible. And to do this analysis for all 2,000

         10  stands just simply doesn't do that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Just two

         12  quick points before I wrap up. One, you had

         13  mentioned pedestrian traffic, Commissioner Woloch.

         14  Do you agree that pedestrian traffic in certain

         15  areas changes over time, in certain areas?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:

         17  Absolutely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: All the more

         19  reason to possibly go out and re-examine these

         20  locations, correct?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: In

         22  certain locations, doing that assessment --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         24                 Secondly, the $1 million that you

         25  came up with for ten additional inspectors and so
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          2  forth, who came up with that million dollar figure?

          3  Who came up with the additional need of ten

          4  additional inspectors, and four additional staff?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: You know,

          6  DOT and in consultation with the Office of

          7  Management and Budget.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And you

          9  currently don't have enough staff to carry out this

         10  intro; is that what you're saying?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Oh,

         12  absolutely not. Absolutely not.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         16                 We're joined by the Junior Kickers

         17  Soccer Club. They're from Southeast Queens, Jamaica.

         18  They have the privilege of having Council Member

         19  Leroy Comrie represent them.

         20                 We certainly welcome them, this group

         21  of wonderful 16- to 19-year-old students to the

         22  Council Chambers here at City Hall. Welcome.

         23                 And I will finally just point out

         24  that DOT's budget on an annual basis is about $550

         25  million. And it's time that the DOT, in my opinion,
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          2  pay more attention to what is clearly already a

          3  responsibility, current law already reads that any

          4  stand required to be licensed under this session

          5  shall not be licensed unless location thereof has

          6  been approved by the Department of Transportation.

          7                 No such license will be issued or

          8  renewed if the Department of Transportation

          9  determines that the stoopline stand so licensed

         10  poses an obstruction to the free use of sidewalks by

         11  pedestrians. That is the current law. What we are

         12  doing with this bill clarifies exactly what we think

         13  the DOT should be doing in the absence of them

         14  taking a proactive approach over the last couple of

         15  years in addressing their responsibility that has

         16  existed in administrative code for many, many years.

         17                 Thank you, Deputy Commissioners, for

         18  your testimony today. You are always welcome at our

         19  hearings.

         20                 At this point I will ask our next

         21  panel to testify.

         22                 Sung Soo Kim, President of the Korean

         23  American Small Business Service Congress, I believe.

         24  And Bong Kt Hong, also from the Korean American

         25  Small Business Service Congress.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Kim. It is a delight

          3  to have you back once here at the Council Chambers,

          4  and I would ask you and your colleague to please

          5  limit your testimony to three minutes.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. SOO KIM: Thank you, Chairman John

          8  Liu, and they're all gone, right? You're the only

          9  one.

         10                 My name is Sung Soo Kim, I am from

         11  Korean American Small Business Service Center in New

         12  York.

         13                 Next to me is officers and members,

         14  Mr. Hong, Organization Secretary. We came here

         15  together to represent our position at this hearing.

         16  We represent the 1,200 Korean American Green

         17  Grocers, operating license to place stand in the

         18  City.

         19                 I admire the spirit of the bill for

         20  securing free use of sidewalk by pedestrians, and

         21  the safety. I am, however, opposed to this bill. We

         22  have other solutions to materialize on the spirit of

         23  more efficiency and without causing unbearable

         24  threat to the survival of green grocers.

         25                 Procedurally, you know, this bill was
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          2  not fully comprehensively reflecting the reality of

          3  our 2,000 stoopline stand licensees who will be

          4  seriously affected by the law. We don't know intro

          5  number right now. By the way, without public hearing

          6  you voted, right? You just voted without public

          7  hearing. Isn't that the procedure? I mean, I'm just

          8  asking you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This certainly is

         10  not a rare form of procedure.

         11                 MR. SOO KIM: The former procedure,

         12  without public hearing you start vote?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We've had numerous

         14  public hearings on this particular issue.

         15                 But please proceed with your

         16  testimony.

         17                 MR. SOO KIM: Okay, yes, sir.

         18                 We just got this bill just two days

         19  ago, and let me give you not jumping to conclusion.

         20  I completely reviewed, and also had a meeting with

         21  you yesterday, all existing codes, regulation,

         22  enforcement involving the operation of stoopline

         23  stand, and found the sidewalk safety issues that

         24  trigger this legislative craft can be securities

         25  with existing codes and enforcement, except for one
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          2  regulation, you've got to amend subchapters G,

          3  Section 2-63B is there. The measurement, very vague,

          4  so that's only one, with this change, amendment, the

          5  existing code can be fully on the need of this bill.

          6                 Let me just bring up two point. I

          7  think the concept of certification is

          8  unrealistically extrapolated from the merits to

          9  review and the zoning change to enable the mom and

         10  pop green grocers, which rely on heavy pedestrian

         11  traffic, we can't run the foodstore where there is

         12  no traffic. We open the store where the traffic jam

         13  is there, okay? This is the business nature.

         14                 Food stand substantially guarantees

         15  by 28 percent based on our statistics back in 1992.

         16  All right, without this stand, the green grocery

         17  cannot exist. The stand is the face of the store,

         18  nice, and a nice looking face will bring in more

         19  customers.

         20                 Okay, glamorize the criteria is a

         21  risky and reckless toy to DOT, whose negative

         22  certification means the death sentence to green

         23  grocer. Even though the government makes the certain

         24  area in big trouble, the traffic volume is a

         25  permanent factor, while the stoopline operation may
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          2  be a contributing factor. Now this lead to the death

          3  sentence. I, as Chairman Liu, live in Flushing. We

          4  know the problem occurring at Main Street. I

          5  carefully reviewed and tried to find out the

          6  solution without this bill.

          7                 Two solutions: Number one, one is

          8  that the old existing code enforcement will not

          9  apply. I will give you an example. DCA come down,

         10  the inspector, and then they issue one notice

         11  violation. Second notice of violation within 24

         12  months lead to the suspension of the license. This

         13  is very simple. And they didn't do it. Maybe you did

         14  it, but I don't know why. And also, you can apply

         15  the code section 20-24.1, you know the measurement,

         16  okay, by NYPD to order the removal of the stand. So,

         17  existing code, if in effect it apply, can resolve

         18  all the problems.

         19                 Lastly, just for the statement, I

         20  think that instead of having this passed and become

         21  a law, I think the cases should be handled

         22  case-by-case. You can ask, you know, DOT's you know

         23  certification to certain area case-by-case, and I

         24  further propose to each community board should

         25  restore a local sidewalk review board to review the
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          2  problem and intervention in deciding a way to

          3  regulate the stoopline stand licenses.

          4                 So, the things all procedurally, we

          5  believe this is something wrong. We really want you

          6  not to vote, but you already did, and have another

          7  hearing and green grocer community is ready to

          8  submit with the 700 samples, all the surveys, which

          9  clearly support more effective way.

         10                 So, I really beseech your authority

         11  to have another hearing, to work with you, but I

         12  don't know because you already done.

         13                 So, we ask for a moratorium not to

         14  vote, but you did. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would your colleague

         16  like to testify?

         17                 MR. SOO KIM: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Kim?

         19                 MR. SOO KIM: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I want to thank you

         21  and your colleague for coming all the way down to

         22  City Hall and for meeting with me yesterday.

         23                 And I agree with almost everything

         24  you say. I think the stoopline stands are an

         25  important part of New York City, and I think they
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          2  are absolutely important to the core business of

          3  many of the small businesses, and many of which are

          4  owned by Korean Americans.

          5                 The issue is not something that is

          6  against the small businesses. The issue here is that

          7  in this City, the Department of Transportation has

          8  an obligation to ensure that these stoopline stands

          9  do not interfere with safe pedestrian passage.

         10                 That is already part of the law

         11  today, even before we vote on this, even before we

         12  pass this legislation.

         13                 As I read before, the law already

         14  requires that no such stand shall be licensed or

         15  renewed if the Department of Transportation

         16  determines that the stoopline stand so licensed

         17  poses an obstruction to the free use of sidewalks by

         18  pedestrians.

         19                 That's not our bill, that's current

         20  law. That's been the law for many years. The problem

         21  is that the Department of Transportation has not

         22  fulfilled its obligations under the law. And we have

         23  worked with them for two years to try to get them to

         24  take action but they have not complied, and

         25  therefore, we must go ahead with this legislation.
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          2                 And what does the new legislation

          3  say? It's not much different from the current law

          4  except that we now say that they actually have to go

          5  take a look at the location where the stoopline

          6  stand is proposed, and make a determination that

          7  even with the stoopline stand, pedestrians will be

          8  able to travel in front of that sidewalk freely

          9  without any hazard. That is what we're asking the

         10  Department of Transportation to do. And in fact,

         11  that's what this bill does.

         12                 It poses a clearer requirement on the

         13  DOT to do their job, to make sure that all the

         14  sidewalks are indeed safe for pedestrians to use.

         15                 There will be some impact on

         16  businesses, but I do not believe that out of the

         17  2,000 or so stoopline stands, that the majority of

         18  them will be affected by this.

         19                 But to the extent where stands are

         20  located on a sidewalk that has become dangerous for

         21  pedestrians to use, it's up to the DOT to fulfill

         22  its responsibility and make sure that that sidewalk

         23  continues to be safe for pedestrians.

         24                 Thank you very much for your

         25  testimony today. And I look forward to having more
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          2  hearings, not on this bill necessarily, but on the

          3  local law that will be enacted, and it is important

          4  that your organization continue to give us input on

          5  the implementation of this law by the Department of

          6  Transportation, and by the Department of Consumer

          7  Affairs, so that we can make sure that their focus

          8  is solely on pedestrian safety, and that it does not

          9  impose any kind of unfair or unequal burden on any

         10  of our small businesses.

         11                 Thank you very much, Mr. Kim.

         12                 MR. SOO KIM: Thank you, Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         14                 There being no other witnesses, this

         15  hearing of the Transportation Committee is

         16  adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 17th day of August 2005.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            37

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

